THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Honorable Circuit Court Judge R. Scott Sprouse

Consolidated Cases 2009-CP-40-05680 and 2013-CP-40-05097

Appellate Case No. 2019-000374

Basilides F. Cruz, Joseph A. Floyd, Sr.,
Arthur C. Gillam III, Alma C. Hill,
Barry N. Martin, Charles F. Morris, Sr.,
and Joseph A. Smith,

Appellants,

v.

City of Columbia,

Respondent.

and

Larry Strickland, Denious L. Dimery and
Bailey G. McClinton,

Appellants,

v.

City of Columbia,

Respondent.

RECEIVED
AUG 22 2019
SC Court of Appeals

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

BLOODGOOD & SANDERS, LLC
Nancy Bloodgood, SC Bar No.: 6459

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The basic facts of these consolidated cases are not seriously in dispute. Indeed, the parties have stipulated to many of the key facts. Plaintiffs-Appellants began working for the City of Columbia as firefighters in the 1960s, 1970s, and 1980s. R. pp. 708-710. They claim that various City of Columbia officials represented to them that they would receive no-cost, single coverage healthcare from the time of their retirement until the time of their death. R. p. 711. And the City of Columbia did, in fact, provide the firefighters with no-cost single coverage healthcare from the dates of their retirement until July 2009 (for individuals under 65) or 2013 (for individuals over 65). R. pp. 708-710. Plaintiff-Appellant Denious “D.L.” Dimery’s experience illustrates this last point—Dimery retired in 1991 and received no-cost, single coverage healthcare for over 20 years before the City of Columbia began requiring him to pay the premium for the same coverage. R. p. 710.

This is the second time that this Court has been asked to address legal issues related to this case. In Bishop v. City of Columbia, this Court affirmed the dismissal of Plaintiffs-Appellants’ contract claims and promissory estoppel claims based on the employee handbook and benefits booklet, but it reversed the dismissal of Plaintiffs-Appellants’ promissory estoppel claims based upon “representations made by their supervisors and the City’s human resource personnel.” 401 S.C. 651, 667–668, 738 S.E.2d 255, 263 (Ct. App. 2013).

This most recent appeal results from a two-day promissory estoppel bench trial in December 2018. During the bench trial, Plaintiffs-Appellants articulated specific instances throughout their careers when Chiefs, City Managers, and Human Resources officials represented to them that they would receive no-cost, single coverage healthcare from the time of their retirement until the time of their death. Plaintiffs-Appellants testified to the out-of-pocket

costs that they have incurred since the City of Columbia stopped providing no-cost, single coverage healthcare; they also testified that they expected to continue to incur out-of-pocket expenses for healthcare for the remainder of their lives.

On January 28, 2019, the trial court rendered judgment for the City of Columbia. In its Order, the trial court held that “[Appellants] relied on the representations made by the City through its agents and the City’s official policy over the years,” but “[Appellants] failed to demonstrate that they incurred damages as a result of their reliance.” R. p. 36. The trial court also held that “[Appellants] failed to establish compensable injuries,” Id. at 33, and that they “offered no measure of loss beyond premiums charged for their insurance.” Id. at 34.

On February 6, 2019, Appellants filed a Motion to Alter or Amend the Order Granting Judgment to Defendant. R. pp. 460-472. On February 19, 2019, the trial court issued an order denying Plaintiffs-Appellants’ Motion to Alter or Amend, holding that it was “unable to discover any material fact or principle of law that either has been overlooked or disregarded and further [found] no error of law or fact not appropriately considered.” R. pp. 39-41.

Plaintiffs-Appellants subsequently appealed the Trial Court’s Order Granting Judgment to Defendant-Respondent.

STANDARDS OF REVIEW

Appellate courts determine questions of law *de novo*. Town of Summerville v. City of N. Charleston, 378 S.C. 107, 109, 662 S.E.2d 40, 41 (2008).

“In equitable actions like promissory estoppel, an appellate court may find facts in accordance with its own view of the preponderance of the evidence.” S.C. Dep’t of Transp. v. Horry Cty., 391 S.C. 76, 81, 705 S.E.2d 21, 24 (2011) (citing Denman v. City of Columbia, 387 S.C. 131, 140, 691 S.E.2d 465, 470 (2010)).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The trial court erred when it granted judgment in favor of Defendant-Respondent because it used the incorrect standard to determine whether Plaintiffs-Appellants had established the fourth element of their promissory estoppel claims.

The elements of promissory estoppel are (1) an unambiguous promise by the promisor; (2) reasonable reliance on the promise by the promisee; (3) reliance by the promisee was expected by and foreseeable to the promisor; and (4) injury caused to the promisee by his reasonable reliance. To establish the fourth element—that is, an injury in reliance—a plaintiff need only establish that but for the promisor’s inconsistent disposition of the promise, the complained-of injury would not have occurred.

Here, the trial court required Plaintiffs-Appellants to demonstrate that they “would have been better off” to establish the fourth element of promissory estoppel. This new “would have been better off” standard has no basis in case law or public policy. And because Plaintiffs-Appellants presented stipulated and uncontroverted evidence that their injuries—that is, the loss of no-charge health insurance coverage until death—would not have occurred but-for the City of Columbia’s inconsistent disposition of the promise, Plaintiffs-Appellants established the fourth element of their promissory estoppel claims.

In addition, the trial court’s insistence that Plaintiffs-Appellants’ complained-of injuries—that is, the present and future out-of-pocket expenses related to the unexpected need to purchase health insurance coverage—are non-compensable is without merit. A court sitting in equity has the power to provide relief in the form of expectation damages, and expectation damages are an appropriate form of relief in situations such as this.

This Court should (1) reverse the lower court's Order; (2) hold that Plaintiffs-Appellants have established their promissory estoppel claims by a preponderance of the evidence; (3) award Plaintiffs-Appellants make-whole relief; and (4) remand the case for the sole purpose of calculating damages.

ARGUMENT

In this case, the trial court required the Plaintiffs-Appellants to demonstrate that they “would have been better off” to establish the fourth element of promissory estoppel—injury in reliance. This is the incorrect standard to determine whether a plaintiff has established the fourth element of promissory estoppel. Under the proper “but-for” standard, Plaintiffs-Appellants demonstrated the fourth element of promissory estoppel by a preponderance the evidence. With respect to damages, the trial court erred when it held that Plaintiffs-Appellants failed to demonstrate “compensable injuries.” Plaintiffs-Appellants’ out-of-pocket and future expenses are sufficient and appropriate measures of damages.

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT CONCLUDED THAT PLAINTIFFS FAILED TO DEMONSTRATE THE FOURTH ELEMENT OF PROMISSORY ESTOPPEL—“AN INJURY IN RELIANCE”—BY A PREPONDERANCE OF THE EVIDENCE.

“The elements of promissory estoppel are (1) an unambiguous promise by the promisor; (2) reasonable reliance on the promise by the promisee; (3) reliance by the promisee was expected by and foreseeable to the promisor; and (4) injury caused to the promisee by his reasonable reliance.” N. Am. Rescue Prod., Inc. v. Richardson, 411 S.C. 371, 379–80, 769 S.E.2d 237, 241 (2015). To establish the fourth element—that is, an injury in reliance—a promissory estoppel plaintiff “must show, but for the promisor’s inconsistent disposition, the complained-of injury would not have otherwise resulted.” Barnes v. Johnson, 402 S.C. 458, 474, 742 S.E.2d 6, 14 (Ct. App. 2013). Here, the trial court imposed an incorrect, more onerous standard upon Plaintiffs-Appellants than the “but-for” standard discussed in Barnes. This “better off” standard has no support in South Carolina’s promissory estoppel case law. Under the proper, but-for standard, Plaintiffs-Appellants established the fourth element of promissory estoppel and are entitled to damages.

A. **The Trial Court Applied the Incorrect Standard for the Fourth Element of Promissory Estoppel When it Required Plaintiffs to Demonstrate That They “Would Have Been Better Off” Instead of Determining Whether the Complained-Of Injury Would Have Occurred But For the City of Columbia’s Inconsistent Disposition.**

The fourth element of promissory estoppel requires the person to whom the promise is made to have suffered “injury in reliance on the promise.” Craft v. S.C. Comm’n for Blind, 385 S.C. 560, 565, 685 S.E.2d 625, 627 (Ct. App. 2009). In its Order Granting Judgment to Defendant, the trial court made the following statement of law: “To prove the detrimental reliance element necessary to obtain relief on promissory estoppel, a plaintiff must demonstrate that he would have been better off if he had not relied upon a promise.” R. p. 34. This is an inaccurate statement of the law for at least two reasons.

First, there is no “detrimental reliance element” in promissory estoppel. A Westlaw search of the entire South Carolina catalog of cases does not produce a single instance where the terms “detrimental reliance” and “promissory estoppel” are used in the same case. As discussed above, Plaintiffs need only demonstrate an injury in reliance on the promise—that is, an injury that would not have occurred but for the City of Columbia’s renegeing on the promise of post-retirement, no-cost single coverage healthcare for life.

Second, there is no support for the statement that “a plaintiff must demonstrate that he would have been better off if he had not relied upon a promise.” Id. As in all of Defendant’s briefing throughout the life of this case where similar assertions were made, there is no citation to supporting case law. This is because this “requirement” is made from whole cloth and inconsistent with the law on promissory estoppel in South Carolina and the principles that underpin promissory estoppel. The assertions that Plaintiffs-Appellants “experienced substantial increases in pay during employment, obtained significant promotions, enjoyed personal gratification and continue to receive valuable pension benefits as a result of their employment with the City,” Id., have no bearing on

whether Plaintiffs-Appellants have demonstrated an injury in reliance, as required by South Carolina promissory estoppel case law.

An analysis of the case law establishes that “injury in reliance” requires only that Plaintiffs-Appellants demonstrate a causal relationship between the broken promise and the complained-of injury: “In order to demonstrate that the injury was sustained in reliance upon an alleged promise, the promisee must show, *but for the promisor’s inconsistent disposition*, the complained-of injury would not have otherwise resulted.” Barnes v. Johnson, 402 S.C. 458, 742 S.E.2d 6, 14 (Ct. App. 2013) (emphasis added). This is underscored by the two leading cases on promissory estoppel, which the trial court cited in its Order Granting Judgment to Defendant: Craft and Barnes. R. pp. 34-36. A faithful application of the legal analyses and holdings of these cases does not support the trial court’s “would have been better off” standard for demonstrating an injury in reliance.

In Craft v. South Carolina Commission for the Blind, the plaintiff quit his job on December 29, 2005 based on a promise that another job would be available. The other job never materialized, and the plaintiff was unable to go back to the old job because the job site was permanently closed on December 31, 2005. Plaintiff failed to present any evidence regarding why the job site was closed, and the Court held that plaintiff failed to demonstrate that he had sustained the claimed injury of loss of current employment by quitting his job in reliance on the defendant’s promise. Even if plaintiff had quit his job on reliance of the promised job, he would have been out of a job in two days because the job site was permanently closed. Barnes v. Johnson, 402 S.C. 458, 475, 742 S.E.2d 6, 14 (Ct. App. 2013) (noting that the merchant in Craft “could no longer work there for reasons beyond the Commission’s control, and, thus, his unemployed status was not due to the Commission’s inconsistent disposition.”).

Similarly, in Barnes v. Johnson, the Court held that the plaintiff could not maintain a cause of action for promissory estoppel because he “failed to demonstrate . . . an injury sustained in reliance [on] a promise.” 402 S.C. at 476, 742 S.E.2d at 15–16. In Barnes, the plaintiff asserted a promissory estoppel cause of action related to alleged agreements related to various improvements to a house. The house at issue ultimately burned down due to “an act of nature,” and the Court of Appeals held that “the fire caused [the plaintiff’s] injury,” not the actions of the promisor. 402 S.C. at 475, 742 S.E.2d at 15–16. The plaintiff suffered an unfortunate set of circumstances, but the injury was not causally related to the broken promise; it was caused by the house burning down.

From a public policy perspective, requiring a plaintiff to show that he or she would have done better elsewhere runs counter to the equitable principles of fairness that underpin the cause of action. Adopting an “I would have done better” standard will allow future promise breakers to take advantage of the loyalty engendered by their promises; if a promisee believes the promise of future benefits and that promise induces the desired result (that is, staying put), the promisee will rarely, if ever, have the ability to say that he or she would have done better.

The fact that the doctrine of promissory estoppel applies in areas outside the arena of promises related to employment also cuts against adopting a new “would have done better” standard, because it would oftentimes make no sense. See, e.g., Powers Const. Co. v. Salem Carpets, Inc., 283 S.C. 302, 306, 322 S.E.2d 30, 33 (Ct. App. 1984) (“Because promissory estoppel is a recognized doctrine in South Carolina, we have no doubt that the doctrine can support an action brought in this state by a contractor who has submitted a prime bid in reliance upon a subcontractor’s bid.” (internal citation omitted)); see also Furman University v. Waller, 124 S.C. 68, 117 S.E. 356 (1922) (applying the concept of promissory estoppel—although not by name—to a

situation where a university relied on a pledged donation to build a dormitory); Higgins Const. Co. v. S. Bell Tel. & Tel. Co., 276 S.C. 663, 665–66, 281 S.E.2d 469, 470 (1981) (recognizing that Waller was a promissory estoppel case and holding that the doctrine is not restricted to cases involving charities).

In sum, the fourth element of promissory estoppel does not require plaintiffs to demonstrate that they “would have been better off.”

B. Plaintiffs Demonstrated the Fourth Element of Promissory Estoppel—Injury in Reliance on the Promise—by a Preponderance of the Evidence

Plaintiffs-Appellants have demonstrated that the complained-of injury—that is, the loss of no-charge health insurance coverage until death—would not have occurred but for the City of Columbia’s inconsistent disposition of maintaining the promise of no-charge health insurance coverage until death. In fact, the stipulated facts show that (1) all 10 Plaintiffs-Appellants received no-charge, single coverage health insurance in their retirements for periods ranging from 21 years to 9 months, and (2) this coverage ended when the City of Columbia ended its longstanding practice of providing such coverage to retirees until death. R. pp. 708-712. Finally, Plaintiffs-Appellants presented unrebutted testimony that they had incurred out-of-pocket expenses when the City of Columbia ended its practice of providing no-charge health insurance coverage until death; this logically leads to continued expenses until death.

- Cam Gillam began paying \$33.00 monthly health insurance premiums in 2009 and had paid \$4,108 out of pocket as of the time of the trial. (R. pp. 478-479.) Mr. Gillam testified that when he turns 65 he will have to pay for a Medicare Supplement policy and his premiums would then go up dramatically. (Id. at 479–480.)
- Larry Strickland testified that from 2013 to the date of the trial he had paid a total of \$19,000 out of pocket for Medicare Supplement policies, and he expected to incur similar costs for the rest of his life. (Id. at 502.)

- Bailey George McClinton testified the out of pocket costs for his health insurance premiums since 2009 totaled \$18,815.90 and that he expected to incur similar costs for the rest of his life. (Id. at 515-516.)
- Charles Morris testified from 2009 to the date of the trial he had paid \$13,000 out of pocket for health insurance premiums. (Id. at 527-528.)
- Alma Carson Hill testified he had paid \$8,124.00 out of pocket for health insurance premiums since 2009. (Id. at 538.)
- Joseph Floyd testified he had paid \$8,400 out of pocket for health insurance premiums from 2009 until the date of the trial. (Id. at 571.)
- Rusty Smith testified he paid \$8,200 out of pocket for health insurance premiums from 2009 until the date of the trial. (Id. at 584-585.)
- Frank Cruz testified he paid between \$7,000 and \$9,000 from 2009 to the date of the trial out of pocket for health insurance and expects to have substantially higher costs for the rest of his life. (Id. at 604-605.)
- Barry Martin testified he paid \$5,400.00 out of pocket from 2009 to the date of trial for health insurance premiums. (Id. at 613.)
- Denious Dimery testified that since 2013 he had paid almost \$20,000 out of pocket for insurance premiums for Medicare Supplement policies. (Id. at 617.)

Here, Unlike the Craft and Barnes plaintiffs, there is a crystal-clear but-for connection between the promise (no-charge health insurance coverage until death), the inconsistent disposition (the termination of the practice of providing no-charge health insurance coverage until death), and the injury (the loss of no-charge health insurance coverage until death). Accordingly, Plaintiffs-Appellants have established the fourth element of their promissory estoppel claim, and the trial court's judgment for Defendant-Respondent should be reversed.

II. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT HELD THAT PLAINTIFFS "FAILED TO ESTABLISH COMPENSABLE INJURIES"

In finding for the City of Columbia, the Court stated that "Plaintiffs failed to establish compensable injuries incurred in reliance upon representations regarding the availability of individual health insurance without charge throughout their retirements." R. p. 33. This appears to

suggest that even though Plaintiffs-Appellants demonstrated injuries in the form of present and future out-of-pocket costs, they are not the type of injuries for which a court sitting in equity can provide a remedy.¹ This cannot be the law.

Promissory estoppel is an equitable remedy; it “is a flexible doctrine that aims to achieve equitable results.” Barnes v. Johnson, 402 S.C. 458, 469, 742 S.E.2d 6, 11 (Ct. App. 2013). A court sitting in equity has the authority to determine the proper measure of damages—expectation, reliance, or restitution—on a case-by-case basis to ensure a fair result.

By working for the City of Columbia for substantial periods of time at reduced pay (as compared to the private sector) but with the expectation of no-charge, single coverage healthcare until death, Plaintiffs-Appellants conferred a bargained-for benefit upon the City of Columbia. Expectation damages are the appropriate measure of damages in situations such as this, where Plaintiffs-Appellants’ restitution interests have been violated. In other words, the equitable, fair thing to do is to provide the value of the promise that was broken.

This is consistent with the simplified Circuit Court jury charge on Promissory Estoppel, which provides, in relevant part “If you find promissory estoppel, the promise must be enforced.” An award of expectation damages is also consistent with the weight of the authority on promissory estoppel damages; “courts routinely award expectation damages unless those damages are too speculative, indefinite, or otherwise unavailable under traditional contract rules.” Mary E. Becker, Promissory Estoppel Damages, 16 Hofstra Law Review 131, 135 (1987).²

¹ For example, the trial court’s Order states that “[e]ach Plaintiff’s specific costs of their post-retirement health insurance once the policy changes went into effect go toward the now dismissed breach of contract cause of action, not promissory estoppel.” R. p. 36. This statement of law is uncited and unsubstantiated.

² For a comprehensive discussion of damages available in promissory estoppel cases, see Mary E. Becker’s informative article, Promissory Estoppel Damages, 16 Hofstra Law Review 131 (1987), R. pp. 409-413.

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