THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM RICHLAND COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

R. Scott Sprouse, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No.: 2019-000374

RECEIVED
AUG 23 2019
SC Court of Appeals

Basilides F. Cruz, Joseph A. Floyd, Sr., Arthur C. Gillam, III, Alma C. Hill,
Barry N. Martin, Charles F. Morris, Sr., and Joseph A. Smith, Appellants.

v.

City of Columbia Respondent.

and

Larry Strickland, Denious L. Dimery and Baily G. McClinton, Appellants

v.

City of Columbia Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S FINAL BRIEF

NICKLES LAW FIRM, LLC

W. Allen Nickles, III, SC Bar #4226
4430 Ivy Hall Drive
Columbia, South Carolina 29206
(803) 466-0372
wanickles@nickleslaw.com

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

This appeal represents an effort to remove detrimental reliance from the elements necessary to prevail on a promissory estoppel cause of action. Instead, Appellants argue their expectation that a promise will be fulfilled is sufficient to prevail and that the proper remedy is measured by the value of the promise rather than the cost of reliance. As addressed below, this argument has been rejected by three respected jurists in this case and is incompatible with opinions issued by this Court. In addition, controlling precedent establishes that the decision to modify the City's group health benefits was legislative in nature and cannot be reversed unless found to be beyond Council's authority or unconstitutional. Should this Court determine to review criteria for relief beyond detrimental reliance, the record does not contain the necessary proof of an authorized,

unambiguous promise sufficient to support a finding of reasonable reliance. Finally, the remedy Appellants seek is constitutionally barred.

ARGUMENT

1. Judge Sprouse correctly held that Appellants failed to satisfy all criteria necessary to obtain relief on their promissory estoppel claim.

A claim of promissory estoppel requires proof of: (1) a promise unambiguous in its terms; (2) reasonable reliance on the promise; (3) reliance is expected and foreseeable by the party who made the promise; and (4) injury in reliance on the promise. See, Powers Constr. Co. v. Salem Carpets, Inc., 283 S.C. 302, 322 S.E.2d 30 (Ct. App. 1984) In ruling that Appellants failed to meet the burden of proof necessary to obtain relief on their promissory estoppel claim, Judge Sprouse focused on the requirement of demonstrating injury in reliance on the alleged promise. This makes sense, because a failure to prove reliance damages renders inquiries regarding ambiguity, reasonableness and foreseeability unnecessary.

The remand order in Bishop specifically affirms dismissal of Appellants' contract claim seeking enforcement of continuing health insurance without charge. The order further states that any relief under promissory estoppel requires proof of "injury **in reliance** on the promise." 401 S.C. at 664, 738 S.E.2d at 261 (Emphasis added). This holding is in keeping with the principal that promissory estoppel is not measured by the expected value of the promise. Instead, relief is available only when the plaintiff can prove a specific loss **other than the promise** such as an opportunity obtainable or an injury sustained but for actions taken in reliance. Barnes v. Johnson, 402 S.C. 458, 474-476, 742 S.E.2d 6, 14-15 (Ct. App. 2013) (reversing a promissory estoppel judgment despite the Appellant's sympathetic situation based upon failure to prove an unambiguous promise and "injury sustained in reliance upon such a promise.")

Following remand, both Judge Gee and Justice Toal rejected Appellants' assertions that each was entitled to the same expectation relief (continued group health coverage without charge and reimbursement for premiums paid). In denying class certification Judge Gee held that to prevail each Appellant must "demonstrate how he was prejudiced or how his position was made worse **in reliance** on a promise by the City." (R. p. 25 (emphasis added)) In the order denying reconsideration of class certification Justice Toal stated "the controlling law of this state [requires] individualized examinations necessary to address the **detrimental reliance** (injury) element of [Appellants'] estoppel claims. . . ." (R. p. 28 (emphasis added)) Judge Sprouse independently reached the same conclusion, finding Appellants' evidence of detrimental reliance lacking in substance, clarity and specificity.

The detrimental reliance element necessary to obtain relief on a promissory estoppel claim requires each Appellant to prove first that he would have been better off (or at least as well off) if he had not relied upon the asserted promise, and second, provide a measure of relief not dependent upon speculation. Judge Sprouse correctly ruled that Appellants failed on both counts. Although some testified that they could have pursued or accepted other employment if informed that they may be charged for health insurance in the future, no Appellant identified an available employment opportunity that offered better or equal pay, benefits or future guarantees.(R. pp. 495-496, 503-504, 510, 518-520, 529, 539, 543-544, 572-575, 596, 610, 614, 621-622) Other Appellants testified that they may have postponed their retirement dates had they known that after July 1, 2009 retirees would be required to pay \$33.18 per month for individual group health coverage, compared to the \$800 per month contributed by the City. Even these Appellants concede that they experienced substantial increases in pay during employment, obtained significant promotions, enjoyed personal gratification and received valuable pension benefits as a result of their

employment with the City. (R. pp. 481-482, 495, 510-511, 519, 536, 546-547, 257-258, 575-576, 586-587, 615) Significantly, no Appellant considered the value of receiving health insurance without cost for decades of employment and following retirement when calculating their “loss” occasioned by a change in plan requirements. (Tr., pp. 492-493, 506, 510-511, 518-159, 529, 540, 277-578)

Having considered all testimony and documents presented, Judge Sprouse held that Appellants did not prove that any lost opportunity would have exceeded **or equaled** the compensation, benefits, retirement pension and continuing access to group health insurance made available through their employment with the City. (R. pp. 34-36) Appellants argue that Judge Sprouse imposed an unfair burden in requiring them to show lost advantageous opportunities or sacrificed benefits by remaining in the City’s employ. Appellants’ focus on the phrase “better off” misinterprets and misrepresents the basis of the challenged decision. Read in its entirety, Judge Sprouse’s opinion adheres to established precedent by requiring proof of detrimental reliance beyond mere expectation that a promise will be fulfilled. It was Appellants’ failure to demonstrate detrimental reliance through evidence of equal or better compensation and benefits than obtained from employment with the City that resulted in denial of their requested relief. Barnes, *supra*; See also, Craft v. South Carolina Commission for the Blind, 385 S.C. 560, 568, 685 S.E.2d 625, 629 (Ct. App. 2009)

As Judge Sprouse properly observed, the burden of proving reliance damages addressed in Craft applies here as it applied in Barnes. In Craft this Court found that the Commission for the Blind, through its agents, made unambiguous promises, Craft reasonably relied upon the promises and the Commission expected Craft to rely upon the promises. Craft’s estoppel claim failed, however, because he could not demonstrate that a recognizable injury resulted from his reliance.

Specifically, Craft could not show that he lost another business opportunity.

Like Craft, Appellants assert that they relied upon representations regarding a future event, here retirement. Like Craft, however, no Appellant offered evidence that he lost a better (or equal) opportunity, with regard to pay, career advancement, personal satisfaction or guaranteed benefits, in reliance upon promises received. As in Craft and Barnes, this failure eliminates promissory estoppel as a basis for relief.

Appellants attempt to distinguish Craft, arguing that the imposition of any premium, regardless of the continuing contributions by the City, is sufficient evidence of “injury.” As in Craft, however, Appellants assert that they relied upon authorized representations and lost a prospective benefit or opportunity. If the value of an authorized representation were sufficient to support promissory estoppel relief, this Court would have been compelled to consider Craft’s expected income stream lost from cancellation of future business at the Commission for the Blind. Instead, the trial judge awarded summary judgment and this Court affirmed.

At trial and on appeal, Appellants argue that a 1987 Hofstra Law Review article entitled “Promissory Estoppel Damages” supports the assertion that they are entitled to expectation damages. Appellants offer this article in hope of influencing the Court to depart from established precedent and to award their cost of maintaining health insurance without demonstrating any reliance loss.¹ As Craft confirms, however, promissory estoppel is not available to compel specific performance or to enforce even an authorized promise. Instead, based upon decisions issued by this Court, Judge Gee and Justice Toal, Judge Sprouse correctly ruled that promissory estoppel relief requires a detrimental change of position (lost employment opportunity for example)

¹ This article was published before the Barnes and Craft decisions, each requiring proof of reliance damages in commercial settings. The article is not cited in any opinion in this State and there are no South Carolina cases identified in the article as adopting the author’s suggestions for awarding expectation relief.

separate from the value of the promise itself. No Appellant identified a specific or comparable employment opportunity or benefit lost due to the expectation of post-employment benefits. Their argument to the contrary, mere expectation of future benefits does not establish a basis for relief regardless of the “reasonableness” of the expectation or the authority of the promise. Therefore, as in Craft and Barnes, Judge Sprouse correctly concluded that Appellants’ promissory estoppel claim fails.

ADDITIONAL SUSTAINING GROUNDS:

The following arguments are presented as additional grounds for sustaining the decision to deny Appellants relief on their promissory estoppel cause of action. See, I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant, 338 S.C. 406, 418, 526 S.E. 2d 716, 722 (2000), applying SCACR Rule 220(c), “[t]he appellate court may affirm any ruling, order, or judgement upon any ground(s) appearing in the Record on Appeal.”

1. City Council has the sole authority for making policy decisions regarding City funded group health plans.

After the Bishop decision was issued, our Supreme Court accepted an action in its original jurisdiction challenging a decision by the State’s Budget and Control Board to alter premiums charged to members of the State’s group health insurance plan. Members of the Board included the Governor, Comptroller General, State Treasurer and other high office holders. Finding that their action violated the separation of powers guaranteed by our constitution, the Supreme Court confirmed that “[i]ncluded within the legislative power is the **sole prerogative to make policy decisions**; to exercise discretion as to what the law will be.” The Court went on to observe that “while non-legislative bodies may make policy determinations when delegated such power by the

legislature, absent such a delegation, **policymaking is an intrusion upon the legislative power.**”

Hampton v. Haley, 403 S.C. 395, 403-404, 743 S.E.2d 258, 262 (2013)(emphasis added)

Applying the above principles to the funding group health insurance for public employees, the Court held: “appropriation of public funds is a legislative function and the . . . power to reduce appropriations according to [administrative] criteria would be an impermissible delegation of legislative powers.” Id. at 409, 265. Accordingly, to determine whether any representations regarding future group health insurance benefits were authorized, this Court must examine the form of government adopted by the City of Columbia, the manner in which legislative/policymaking functions are performed and distinctions between legislative and administrative responsibilities.

As stipulated by the Appellants, the City of Columbia has adopted a council-manager form of government. (R. p. 712; see also, City of Columbia Ordinance, Chap. 2, art. 1, Sec. 2-1 (R. p. 950))² The legislative powers of the City and the determination of all matters of policy are vested in the City Council, with each member, including the Mayor, having one vote. (City of Columbia Ordinance, Chap. 2, art. 1, Sec. 2-5 (R. p. 950); the City Manager is the chief executive officer and head of the administrative branch of the City’s government. The City Manager must operate within financial limits imposed by the budget approved by City Council. (City of Columbia Ordinance, Chap. 2, art. 1, Sec. 2-32(a)(b) (R. p. 952)) The Director of Human Resources works under the City Manager and has administrative supervision over the Department of Human Resources, including employee benefits. (City of Columbia Ordinance, Chap. 2, art. 1, Sec. 2-122 (R. p. 953)) Department heads, including the Fire Department, are subject to the City Manager and are

² The City’s ordinances were reorganized by Ord. No. 2016-042 on June 21, 2016. The substance of the ordinances addressed above are consistent with those in place during the period relevant to this litigation, including the duties of the City Manager (former Ord. § 2-114), responsibilities of department heads (former Ord. § 2-151) and administrative authority of the Director of Human Resources (former Ord. § 2-125) referenced in Bishop, *supra* at fn. 6.

responsible for administering their departments. (City of Columbia Ordinance, Chap. 2, art. 1, Sec. 2-151 (R. pp. 954-955) Under the council-manager form of government, the municipal council has exclusive authority to adopt the budget, provide for the general welfare of the municipality and to carry out any duties not prohibited by law or constitution. S.C. Code Ann. § 5-13-30. For this reason, neither a city manager nor any department head “have the authority to set city policy, nor can their acts be said to represent official policy in view of the legislative authority granted to the municipal council.” Todd v. Smith, 305 S.C. 227, 231, 407 S.E. 2d 644, 646-647 (1991) (addressing the council-manager form of government) In this context, Appellants cannot identify any “authorized promise” of future health benefits. Moreover, the relief requested would undermine Council’s legislative authority to make policy decisions regarding expenditure of public funds.

2. City Council’s legislative exercise to examine and fund budgetary components, including group health costs, cannot be delegated or compromised.

In keeping with the preservation of legislative authority maintained by the City’s Council, neither individual employees nor Council members may bind the City regarding future health insurance; See, Willoughby v. City Council of City of Florence, 51 S.C. 462, 29 S.E. 242 (1898) (verbal assurances insufficient to bind a municipality); State v. Burgess, 408 S.C. 421, 438, 759 S.E.2d 407, 416 (2014) (a governing body is prevented from delegating its “high functions” to any entity or officer and may not “surrender or restrict any portion of [the] power conferred upon it”) A resolution duly adopted by a municipal council “is a legislative enactment and presumed to be constitutional.” Sandlands C & D, LLC v. County of Horry, 394 S.C. 451, 460, 716 S.E.2d 280, 284 (2011), *quoting* Aakjer v. City of Myrtle Beach, 388 S.C. 129, 133, 694 S.E.2d 213, 215 (2010). As these authorities illustrate, Appellants’ requests to be insulated from the consequences

of a legislative decision based on promises of future benefits are unenforceable through the judicial process. Instead, any remedy must be obtained legislatively absent proof of unlawful or unconstitutional conduct on the part of Council.

3. City Council’s decision to require all participants in the group health plan to contribute financially was within its delegated authority.

Should this Court decide to evaluate its authority to enjoin City Council from enforcing its resolution as to Appellants or compel Council to modify or ignore the resolution requiring members of its group health plan to make financial contributions, the record must contain proof that the challenged resolution was invalid, keeping in mind that in “[t]his state’s constitution . . . the powers of local governments should be liberally construed.” Sandlands, supra., citing S.C. Const. art. VIII, § 17; see also, Denene, Inc. v. City of Charleston, 532 S.C. 208, 574 S.E.2d 196 (2002) (rehearing denied).

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